ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Lexington County
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001877
Circuit Court Case No. 2014-CP-32-04769

LANCE AUSTIN WILLIAMS,

RESPONDENT,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Chief Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MICHAEL D. ROSS
Assistant Attorney General
South Carolina Attorney General's Office
PO Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

NOV 04 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the PCR court erred in presuming prejudice under United States v. Cronic where respondent's trial attorneys presented a defense and the surrounding circumstances failed to reach such a magnitude that no attorney could have provided effective assistance of counsel.

2. Whether the PCR court erred in concluding that respondent's trial attorneys provided ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland v. Washington in their pre-trial preparation and decisions not to call an expert witness or object to photographs of the victim's injuries.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In July 2010, the Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Lance Williams (respondent) for criminal sexual conduct with a minor and unlawful neglect of a child. (App. 638-41). The case proceeded to trial on March 30, 2011. (App. 1). The Honorable R. Knox McMahon presided. (App. 1). Assistant Solicitor Suzanne Mayes represented the State, and attorneys James Snell and Wayne Floyd represented respondent. (App. 1).

After a two-day trial, the jury found respondent guilty as charged on both indictments. (App. 595, l. 4-13). The trial court sentenced respondent to twenty-five years for criminal sexual conduct with a minor and ten years for unlawful neglect of a child. (App. 636, l. 12-17). The court ordered the sentences to run concurrently. (App. 636, l. 17-18).

Respondent filed a timely appeal. Attorneys Richard Harpootlian, David Scott, and Graham Newman represented respondent on appeal. (App. 642). In a published decision, the Court of Appeals affirmed respondent's convictions. State v. Williams, 405 S.C. 263, 747 S.E.2d 194 (Ct. App. 2013). Respondent subsequently petitioned this Court for certiorari, which was denied on July 24, 2014. (App. 766).

Respondent then filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. (App. 769). The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith presided over an evidentiary hearing on January 30-31, 2017. (App. 804, l. 9-13). After the hearing, the court granted respondent's motion to amend his application to conform his pleadings to the evidence. (App. 1187-88). The PCR court subsequently granted respondent's application and vacated the convictions. (App. 1223). The State filed a Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend judgment, which was denied on August 18, 2017. (App. 1265).

The State timely appealed the PCR court's order. On August 5, 2019, this Court granted the State's petition for a writ of certiorari. The State submits this brief requesting the PCR court's order be reversed and respondent's convictions reinstated.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Law Enforcement's Investigation

Respondent began dating Brittany B. in December 2009. (App. 149, l. 2). The two had known each other for years, and their relationship progressed quickly. (App. 148, l. 21; 485, l. 15-16). By April 2010, respondent was spending the night with Brittany three to four times a week. (App. 150, l. 10). They even discussed buying a home and moving in together. (App. 152, l. 21-22). Brittany had a fifteen month old daughter (victim) from a prior relationship, and respondent actively assisted with the daily tasks of raising the child. (App. 129, l. 4; 147, l. 16-21; 155, l. 4). For example, respondent helped bathe, dress, feed, and discipline the victim. (App. 155, l. 17-20; 156, l. 1-5). According to Brittany, respondent wanted to become the victim's stepfather. (App. 154, l. 11-12).

On April 15, 2010, Brittany had to help her father with a project at his home in Lexington. (App. 156, l. 23-24). Respondent had stayed over the night before and agreed to watch the victim while Brittany was away. (App. 156, l. 25; 157, l. 17). At the time, Brittany and her daughter were living in a trailer in Swansea with LeeAnn Harvey, a relative through marriage. (App. 151, l. 7; 183, l. 1-4). When Brittany left at 8:00 am, her daughter was still sleeping. (App. 157, l. 1-6). Respondent and LeeAnn subsequently got the victim dressed, fed, and ready for the day. (App. 187, l. 21-25; 188, l. 1-6). LeeAnn also changed the victim's diaper and noticed nothing out of the ordinary. (App. 188, l. 12-17). At around 11:30 am, LeeAnn went to run errands, leaving respondent and the victim alone in the trailer. (App. 189, l. 2-19). When LeeAnn left, the victim was fully dressed with her hair fixed in a bow. (App. 192, l. 8-17).

Around lunchtime, Brittany called respondent to check in. (App. 160, l. 1-8). Respondent told her that the victim was taking a nap but had fallen outside earlier. (App. 160, l. 9-10).

According to respondent, the victim bruised her forehead in the fall. (App. 160, l. 10). Brittany asked respondent to drop the child off with the paternal grandparents later that day. (App. 495, l. 10-14). The victim's father had custody that weekend, so the paternal grandparents were going to pick her up. (App. 170, l. 20-22).

LeeAnn returned to the trailer at around 1:00 pm to find the front door locked, which was strange. (App. 190, l. 22-25). LeeAnn never leaves her door locked because the trailer is situated behind her parents' house. (App. 190, l. 5-9). In order for a trespasser to come to her door, he would first have to go through her parents' front yard. (App. 190, l. 5-9). As LeeAnn knocked on her front door, she could hear the victim inside crying. (App. 191, l. 1-4). Respondent did not answer the door, so LeeAnn retrieved a key from her parents' house. (App. 191, l. 7-15). When she returned, LeeAnn saw the victim running down the hallway wearing only a diaper. (App. 191, l. 23; 192, l. 1-4). The victim's hair was also a mess. (App. 192, l. 9-20). Respondent explained that he had to give the victim a bath because she took a nap and got sweaty. (App. 192, l. 23).

At around 6:00 pm, respondent dropped the victim off with the paternal grandparents. (App. 131, l. 14-15; 507, l. 5-6). The grandparents were on their way to another grandchild's little league baseball game and brought the victim along. (App. 131, l. 11-16). Once there, the victim's aunt noticed that the child looked like a "zombie." (App. 132, l. 25). The victim usually acted like an "outgoing, energetic, happy, little girl." (App. 135, l. 17-18). Not so on that day. Instead, the victim resisted anyone touching her. (App. 135, l. 21-22). The aunt also noticed marks and bruises on the victim's cheek, ears, head, and arms. (App. 133, l. 6-13). In fact, the victim had visible fingerprints on her cheek, as if someone had slapped her in the face. (App. 134, l. 16). The aunt did not want to make a scene at the little league game, but called Brittany to tell her about the visible bruises. (App. 133, l. 21-24).

When the family returned home they found additional bruising and swelling on the child's genitalia. (App. 136, l. 6-9). After discovering these injuries, they took the child to the emergency room. (App. 137, l. 3-4). Brittany rushed to meet them on their way to the hospital. (App. 137, l. 5). While en route, she called respondent to tell him that something was wrong with her daughter. (App. 163, l. 12-13). Respondent stated that he "didn't do anything to her, she didn't get hurt under my care." (App. 163, l. 18-19).

The child would stay in the hospital for four days. (App. 138, l. 11). Upon arrival, the victim underwent a CT scan, revealing a large hematoma on the back of her head and petechial hemorrhages.¹ (App. 244, l. 19-20; 319, l. 15-17). A forensic nurse examined the victim that night, noting that the child's demeanor was agitated, tearful, and "hyper-vigilant." (App. 237, l. 5-10; 265, l. 21). Although the victim would drift off to sleep, she would wake back up at the slightest noise. (App. 237, l. 7-12). The nurse also observed bruises on the child's forehead, neck, ears, arms, and legs. (App. 241, l. 3-23; 244, l. 1-5; 247, l. 10-19). Additionally, the victim had a bloody lip and abrasions to her neck and thigh. (App. 241, l. 22; 242, l. 2; 244, l. 13-15; 248, l. 4-18).

The nurse removed the child's diaper and found bloody streaks. (App. 255, l. 24-25). An examination of the victim's genitalia revealed swelling, abrasions, and petechial hemorrhages to the labia. (App. 266, l. 11-23). The victim's clitoris was also swollen. (App. 266, l. 11-12). The nurse tried to examine the victim's hymen, but could not completely see it because the child would not cooperate. (App. 267, l. 11-25). The nurse explained that an examination of the hymen is

¹ Petechiae are small, ruptured capillaries that create pinpoint reddened areas on the skin. (App. 245, l. 2-7).

“very, very painful,” and the child would not sit still. (App. 268, l. 2-5). The nurse believed the child’s injuries to the genitalia were consistent with trauma. (App. 271, l. 5).

After the forensic nurse examination, the child was admitted to the pediatric intensive care unit. (App. 284, l. 20-21). Dr. Susan Luberoff, a pediatrician, examined the victim the following day. (App. 316, l. 24). She found the victim’s external injuries were consistent with physical abuse. (App. 333, l. 5-6). For example, Dr. Luberoff believed the hematoma to the scalp and bruising along the ears arose from a single blow to the head from “a fair amount of force.” (App. 326, l. 8-22). She explained that although a child can accidentally injure an ear, typically the injury “doesn’t go through the head and show up on the other side” like the victim’s injury. (App. 326, l. 16-17). Dr. Luberoff further identified three bruises on the victim’s elbow, which appeared to be a “grip mark” from forcefully grabbing the child’s arm. (App. 329, l. 1-7). The victim had similar bruising on her right leg that also appeared to be a grip mark. (App. 329, l. 12-17). Along the victim’s neck, Dr. Luberoff observed a series of bruises indicative of jerking the child by her clothing. (App. 330, l. 1-9). Additionally, the victim had bruising to the forehead, face, and jaw line. (App. 327, l. 12; 328, l. 13-17; 329, l. 23-25). The child’s upper lip was also split, indicative of a fresh injury. (App. 331, l. 14-15).

Dr. Luberoff explained that ordinarily she would expect to find small, scattered bruises on an active child’s shins or other prominent bony parts. (App. 333, l.10-14). The absence of any bruising there suggested that the child was neither excessively clumsy, nor suffered from a blood disorder that would make her susceptible to bruising from incidental contact. (App. 333, l. 14-20). According to Dr. Luberoff, the distribution, location, and pattern of the injuries “very strongly support the diagnosis of inflicted injury or physical abuse.” (App. 334, l. 1-9). Although Dr.

Luberoff could not precisely date the injuries, she believed they were inflicted within the previous day or two. (App. 334, l. 20-21).

Dr. Luberoff also conducted an examination of the victim's genitalia, first noting an arc of bruises across the external pubic bone. (App. 335, l. 10-12). Compared to photographs taken by the forensic nurse, the bruises appeared much more evident, indicating they were still "evolving" and "quite fresh." (App. 344, l. 19-20). The child's internal genitalia was injured as well. (App. 335, l. 12-25). She had tearing on both sides of her labia and bruising to the hymen, which Dr. Luberoff characterized as "penetrating injuries." (App. 335, l. 17-19; 343, l. 15-16). Dr. Luberoff explained that "the hymen is within the vaginal area... and the only way to get there is by penetrating into that area." (App. 342, l. 12-15). Although Dr. Luberoff could not precisely date the injuries to the genitalia, she believed they occurred within the past thirty-six hours. (App. 349, l. 9).

After Dr. Luberoff's physical examination, law enforcement developed a timeline to determine who was caring for the child when she sustained these injuries. (App. 383, l. 16-22). Through interviewing family members, a detective learned that respondent had been taking care of her immediately before the injuries were discovered. (App. 384, l. 23-24). As the detective left the hospital on April 16, 2010, he called respondent, who agreed to meet at the Sheriff's Department to "clear it up." (App. 385, l. 13).

Respondent arrived at the Sheriff's Department later that night. (App. 386, l. 5-6). When the detective said that the little girl was covered in bruises, respondent explained that he already notified Brittany that she had fallen. (App. 387, l. 22-23). The detective then showed respondent a photograph of the "grip mark" on the arm. (App. 388, l. 1-4). Respondent admitted that he picked the victim up by her arm, explaining that he lifts up his own daughter that way and

understands it is a bad practice. (App. 388, l. 4-6). The detective also showed respondent a photograph of bruising behind both of the victim's ears. (App. 388, l. 9-13). Respondent explained that he hit the child twice on one side of the head after she threw her toys. (App. 388, l. 15-17). Respondent later slapped the child twice on the other side of the head after she threw her bottle down. (App. 388, l. 17-21).

The detective finally showed pictures of the victim's bruising on the forehead and external genitalia. (App. 388, l. 21-25; 389, l. 1-2). Respondent stated that the victim bruised her forehead when she fell outside. (App. 389, l. 2-4). As for the external genitalia, respondent explained that the victim has eczema, and he must have pressed too hard on the area while applying cream. (App. 389, l. 6-8). Respondent further advised that he has nerve damage in his hand, which creates problems in applying the proper amount of force. (App. 389, l. 13-16). To demonstrate his injury, respondent squeezed the detective's hand and punched the desk in the interview room. (App. 389, l. 17-23). At that point, the detective advised respondent of his *Miranda* rights. (App. 389, l. 23-25)

Respondent subsequently provided a written statement, in which he confirmed that the bruising to the victim's ears arose from two slaps to each ear. (App. 395, l. 1-5). He also confirmed that the bruises to the arm occurred from lifting the child up by her elbow. (App. 395, l. 6-7). The victim's bruising along the neck occurred while playing outside because he "might have grabbed her shirt collar to catch her and bring her back." (App. 1112). As for the child's genitalia, respondent wrote that "the bruising around her privates is from the cream I applied for her dry skin, as I applied to [sic] much force do [sic] to lack of feeling in hand." (App. 1112).

After respondent provided a written narrative, the detective asked several follow-up questions. These too were in writing. The final question was, "what happened to [victim's] vagina

(bruises)?" (App. 1113). Respondent replied, "Was angry that the poop got in between her and used excessive force to clean (wipe) her. Poop got in between her lips, used excessive force to clean her." (App. 1113). At the conclusion of the interview, the detective placed respondent under arrest. (App. 399, l. 24-25).

Counsel's Pre-Trial Representation

After his arrest, respondent retained attorney James Snell (trial counsel) to represent him. (App. 817, l. 20). Trial counsel met with respondent approximately twenty times. (App. 820, l. 5). During these visits, respondent initially denied causing any of the victim's injuries. (App. 820, l. 11-14). As such, respondent opposed pursuing a defense that the victim's genital injuries arose from applying too much force during a medically necessary diaper change. (App. 877, l. 8-11). Instead, respondent's initial defenses were: (1) someone else caused the victim's injuries, and (2) the injuries were not serious enough to warrant the charges. (App. 873, l. 18-22).

As respondent awaited trial, counsel worked on the case for almost a year. (App. 818, l. 6). Trial counsel first reviewed and organized the discovery from the State. (App. 1028, l. 13-16). In addition to speaking to law enforcement officers, trial counsel hired an investigator to interview witnesses. (App. 832, l. 1-3; 834, l. 13-14; 846, l. 3-16). Trial counsel explained that he preferred to have an investigator contact witnesses, as opposed to doing it himself, so that he could impeach the witness at trial if necessary. (App. 841, l. 13-22).

In addition to hiring an investigator, trial counsel consulted with several experts in preparing respondent's defense. First, a registered nurse reviewed and discussed the significance of the medical records with counsel. (App. 855, l. 3-8). The nurse explained that the victim's injuries to the genitalia were not permanent and did not necessarily arise from penile penetration.

(App. 856, l. 13-6). Additionally, the nurse discussed whether the victim's injuries could have arisen while cleaning the child during a diaper change. (App. 857, l. 1-4).

Dr. Anne Abel, a pediatrician at MUSC Children's Hospital, provided an expert assessment as well. (App. 1120). Specifically, Dr. Abel considered whether the child suffered from lichen sclerosis, a skin condition affecting female genitalia. (App. 898, l. 15-23). Dr. Abel found no evidence of lichen sclerosis. Rather, the victim suffered from "acute genital trauma and acute general physical trauma." (App. 1120). Dr. Abel reduced her findings in a letter to trial counsel. (App. 1120).

At the request of respondent's family, trial counsel also conferred with Dr. Edward Friedlander, a pathologist at the Kansas City University College of Osteopathic Medicine. (App. 907, l. 1-5; 1109). Dr. Friedlander subsequently rendered an opinion in an undated letter to counsel. (App. 1109). He noted that respondent's situation was "classic" in that he found himself the caregiver to another man's child. (App. 1109). Dr. Friedlander believed respondent "becomes frustrated with the situation, and while changing a diaper loses control of himself and takes out his anger physically on the child." (App. 1109). Although Dr. Friedlander could not address any potential psychological injury, he did not believe the child's physical injuries were permanent. (App. 1109). Dr. Friedlander additionally believed there was no evidence to indicate respondent injured the child in an act of sexual gratification.² (App. 1109).

Dr. Friedlander additionally spoke with trial counsel over the phone. During the conversation, Dr. Friedlander "made it clear to [trial counsel] that we could not think of any way to defend the idea that this child was manhandled." (App. 956, l. 16-19). According to Dr.

² In concluding his letter, Dr. Friedlander noted "All this is true to a reasonable degree of medical certainty and on my word as a Christian gentleman." (App. 1110).

Friedlander, trial counsel was focused on whether the victim's injuries could have arisen without digital penetration of the vulva. (App. 956, l. 21-25; 957, l. 1-10). Dr. Friedlander stressed that they could not. (App. 957, l. 8). The two also discussed payment for potential testimony. (App. 959, l. 13-14). In quoting his fee, Dr. Friedlander stated that "your client was an asshole for the way he handled the kid and I'm going to charge a thousand dollars." (App. 960, l. 3-4).

Additionally, trial counsel had respondent undergo two psychological evaluations to assess any predisposition to pedophilia. (App. 903, l. 16-24). If the evaluations were favorable, counsel planned on presenting the findings to the solicitor during plea negotiations. (App. 903, l. 25). The first evaluation, by Dr. William Burke, was unfavorable to respondent. (App. 904, l. 3-23). As such, trial counsel did not send the solicitor a copy of the report. (App. 903, l. 25). The second evaluation, by Dr. Selman Watson, assessed respondent did not have an attraction to underage children. (App. 924, l. 2-4). Trial counsel gave the solicitor a copy of the report in an attempt to convince her that a plea offer would be appropriate. (App. 924, l. 6-11). The solicitor declined to enter plea negotiations.³ (App. 1089).

Instead, counsel received a trial notice on March 18, 2011. (App. 825, l. 23-25; 826, l. 1-3). One week later, the solicitor gave him a witness list. (App. 829, l. 4-18; 1053-54). As counsel was preparing for trial, respondent's mother asked whether another attorney could assist him at trial. (App. 847, l. 20-25; 848, l. 9-13; 1095). Apparently, she believed an older attorney would present better to a jury. (App. 867, l. 21-23). Counsel replied that he was ready for trial, but would not turn down any help. (App. 1095). Knowing that attorney Wayne Floyd (co-counsel) was a

³ In explaining her position, the solicitor noted several factors, including the extent of the victim's injuries and the recommendation of the victim's family. (App. 1089).

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