RECEIVED

JAN 13 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court**

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001877
Case No. 2014-CP-32-04769

Lance Austin Williams,Respondent,

v.

State of South Carolina.....Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Richard A. Harpootlian (SC Bar No. 2725)
Christopher P. Kenney (SC Bar No. 100147)
RICHARD A. HARPOOTLIAN, P.A.
Post Office Box 1090
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 252-4848
(803) 252-4810 (facsimile)
rah@harpootlianlaw.com
cpk@harpootlianlaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT
LANCE AUSTIN WILLIAMS

January 13, 2020
Columbia, South Carolina.

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

preparing for trial, Respondent was not prejudiced. See Pet. Br. 41–43. These assertions give insufficient weight to the record and the harm in denying Respondent a medical-touching defense.

a. CSC first merely requires genital penetration, while a diaper change is a medically recognized treatment and a defense to the charge.

Before turning to the particulars of Respondent’s failure-to-prepare claim, it is essential to understand what trial counsel failed to comprehend at trial: (1) CSC first merely requires genital (not vaginal) penetration and (2) a diaper change is a defense to the charge because it is a medically recognized treatment.

South Carolina Code § 16-3-655 provides “[a] person is guilty of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree if: (1) the actor engages in sexual battery with a victim who is less than eleven years of age[.]” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655(A)(1). A “sexual battery” means “sexual intercourse, cunnilingus, fellatio, anal intercourse, or *any intrusion, however slight*, of any part of a person’s body or of any object *into the genital or anal openings* of another person’s body, *except* when such intrusion is accomplished for *medically recognized treatment* or diagnostic purposes.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-651(h) (emphasis added). The statutory scheme does not require sexual gratification for liability to attach, nor does it require vaginal penetration. See State v. Morgan, 352 S.C. 359, 365–73, 574 S.E.2d 203, 206–10 (Ct. App. 2002) (construing the inclusion of cunnilingus in the statute and holding “Penetration of the vagina is NOT necessary or required.” (emphasis original)). All that is require is penetration of the genitals for a non-medical purpose. There is no dispute an intrusion into a child’s genitals while changing a diaper and cleaning the child is a medically recognized treatment within the meaning of § 16-3-651(h). On this point Dr. Luberoff and Dr. Friedlander agree. Compare App. 377–78 (“Q. And sometimes you’ve got to even separate [the labia] and clean out and so forth. A. Sometimes you do have to separate and clean out, particularly after a messy diaper.”), with App. 950 (“Q. Okay. Now, if a child of that

age has feces in its vagina, is it medically necessary to clean that out? A. Yes. If you care about the health of the child, you keep that part of the body clean.”).

b. Trial counsel went to trial without understanding what facts would constitute CSC first or the anatomy that would be presented to the jury.

The PCR court credited two arguments under the lack-of-preparation penumbra, the most problematic of which is trial counsel’s misunderstanding of the relevant law and facts relating to his client’s defense. See App. 1212–15. At trial, trial counsel repeatedly highlighted the absence of vaginal penetration—a fact of no legal consequence to the medical touching defense—when questioning key witnesses and moving the trial court for a directed verdict. See App. 1212–13 (citing App. 449–51, 457–60, 955–57 & 1038–39). Trial counsel mistakenly equated the child’s genitals to the vagina, an error most clearly evidenced during argument on Respondent’s motion for a directed verdict where counsel sought to contest *genital* penetration by citing the State’s medical testimony and arguing, “there’s been no evidence presented of any penetration in to the opening.” App. 1213 (citing App. 449–50). The trial court sought clarification from counsel who first explained he was referring to the “genital opening[,]” but continued to argue, “[t]he testimony is that it was a bruised hymen and the hymen sits on the outside of the vaginal canal, which would be the genital opening.” Id. (citing App. 450–51). When the trial court asked, “What are you defining as the genital opening?”, counsel responded, “[t]he vagina.” Id. (App. 450–51); but see Morgan, 352 S.C. at 365–73, 574 S.E.2d at 206–10 (discussing genital intrusion).

Other evidence indicates trial counsel prepared Respondent’s case subject to a fundamental misapprehension of fact and law. During the PCR hearing, trial counsel conceded a diaper change is excluded from the definition of a sexual battery as a legitimate medical touching consistent with Respondent’s trial testimony. Cf. App. 1214 (citing App. 875 & 880–81). However, to Dr. Friedlander’s recollection, trial counsel never inquired about the medical-touching defense when

they spoke, but instead attempted to elicit the view from Dr. Friedlander’s there was no penetration of the vulva—something Dr. Friedlander explained was inaccurate. See App. 1212–13 (citing App. 956–58). The PCR court concluded “[t]he record is uncontradicted that Mr. Snell’s apparent view at trial was neither factually nor legally accurate.” App. 1214; see also App. 1038–39 (co-counsel conceding trial counsel’s views were “not accurate” and he made “an inaccurate argument.”). Trial counsel acknowledged his confusion while the assistant attorney general attempted to rehabilitate him during the PCR hearing: “And I do recall that -- I think basically a lot of folks got an anatomy lesson as far as from the doctor and during the trial.” See App. 911–12. The time for trial counsel to get that anatomy lesson was before his client’s case was called to trial. Cf. App. 1214 (“To guarantee his client effective assistance, trial counsel was obligated to arm himself with accurate information *before* trial.” (emphasis original)).

c. Trial counsel’s preparation deficiencies are prejudicial within the meaning of Strickland because counsel mounted a defense based on a misapprehension of settled law and predicate facts.

The PCR court found trial counsel’s misapprehension actually prejudicial, explaining he “fail[ed] to appreciate the significance of the medically recognized treatment defense” that “resulted in a reliance on inaccurate factual and legal claims to the exclusion of a potentially meritorious defense.” App. 1215. Moreover, by failing to interview Dr. Luberoff or the lay witnesses placing the child in Respondent’s care during the relevant time, trial counsel had no means to prepare any responsive evidence, most critically on the issues of genital penetration and the medical-touching defense. See App. 1211 (discussing witnesses not contacted); see also App. 831–32 (trial counsel conceding he only contacted law enforcement). The PCR court found it was “objectively unreasonable” not to investigate what these individuals would say given their role in establishing predicate facts. See App. 1211. While Strickland entitles counsel to deference on

reasonable strategic judgments made without the benefit of hindsight, the PCR court found trial counsel's investigation reflected a "fail[ure] to act on the import ascribed by his own assessment" and that he "abdicated [his] responsibility to investigate critical witnesses determinative of guilt or innocence." App. 1211. As further illustration, co-counsel's practice in preparing a case is to interview witnesses prior to trial (see App. 1211), but his belated retention just 24 hours before trial meant Respondent's counsel proceeded to trial without any clear sense of the evidence the jury would hear. The State claims this harm is speculative because, "Respondent has failed to articulate how additional pre-trial interviews would have changed anyone's testimony." See Pet. Br. 43. But the purposed of interviewing witnesses is not to *change* their testimony—it is to discover what they plan to tell the jury so counsel can prepare.

Actual prejudice attaches when counsel's performance "has adversely affected the defense[.]" Huffington v. Nuth, 140 F.3d 572, 578 (4th Cir. 1998), and the PCR court was correct to find that standard met here. Trial counsel lacked a basic understanding of CSC law of criminal sexual conduct and the anatomy relevant to that claim. He should have appreciated the significance of Dr. Friedlander's assessment, but did not. He was unable to meaningfully cross-examine witnesses because he had failed to investigate their testimony and misapprehended that eliciting testimony challenging vaginal penetration was no defense to a charge requiring genital penetration. This same misunderstanding rendered Respondent's motion for a directed verdict a futile act. Likewise, because of trial counsel's inaction and co-counsel's newness to the representation, no lawyer investigated this case. Counsel has a "duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691. While the Sixth Amendment does not require a lawyer to investigate every possible witness, "most of the witnesses ... deemed 'crucial' were 'alibi witnesses or eyewitnesses critical to the

determination of guilt,’ such as self-defense witnesses.” Tucker v. Ozmint, 350 F.3d 433, 444 (4th Cir. 2003) (citing Huffington, 140 F.3d at 580); see also App. 1210–11 (quoting same). Here, no witnesses, critical or otherwise, were investigated by counsel such that the PCR court was correct to conclude that counsels’ investigatory and preparational deficiencies were likely to have adversely impacted the result. See also § II, infra (discussing the failure to call Dr. Friedlander).

Thus, the defect in trial counsel’s performance was not adopting a strategy that ultimately proved unsuccessful, but that he failed to comprehend predicates to formulating *any* defense. The notion that counsel employed a valid strategy notwithstanding his misapprehensions incorrectly suggests a level comprehension and competence that is unsupported by the record. See, e.g., App. 1214 (“The record is uncontradicted that Mr. Snell’s apparent view at trial was neither factually nor legally accurate.” (detailing record evidence)). The strategic-decision-of-counsel doctrine requires a *valid* reason, not any reason. See Matthews v. State, 350 S.C. 272, 276, 565 S.E.2d 766, 768 (2002) (collecting cases) (“counsel cannot assert trial strategy as a defense for failure to object to comments which constitute an error of law and are inherently prejudicial.”). The State is unable to point to any valid consideration because counsel was unarmed with the knowledge that would allow strategic decision making to occur and that failure was prejudicial.

d. Respondent’s defense represents a systemic breakdown under Cronic warranting a presumption of prejudice:

The PCR court was also correct to hold that trial counsel’s “overall lack of preparation and legal understanding [was] presumptively prejudicial to Applicant.” See App. 1215. Cronic recognized that prejudice can be presumed where (in part) there is a constructive denial of counsel due to the failure “to subject the prosecution’s case to meaningful adversarial testing[,]” which makes “the adversarial process itself presumptively unreliable.” Cronic, 466 U.S. at 659. The State offers three arguments as to why this case falls short of that standard.

i. Precedent the State relies in ascribing error fails to support the proposition that relief is unavailable under Cronic.

Citing Bell v. Cone, 535 U.S. 685 (2002), Haynes v. Cain, 298 F.3d 375 (5th Cir. 2002), Fusi v. O'Brien, 621 F.3d 1 (1st Cir. 2010), United States v. Theodore, 468 F.3d 52 (1st Cir. 2006), Lorenzen v. State, 376 S.C. 521, 657 S.E. 771 (2008), and Nance v. Ozmint, 367 S.C. 547, 626 S.E.2d 878 (2006), the State contends that relief under Cronic is limited to “extreme cases” where no defense is presented and, whatever might be said for Respondent’s defense at trial, it “was not a ‘complete failure’ on par with having no representation at all.” See Pet. Br. 30–36.³

Bell merely stands for the proposition that the singular failure to request mercy during a final argument was not an abdication of meaningful adversarial testing under Cronic. The Court explained the possibility of presuming prejudice based on the failure to test the prosecutor’s case requires “that the attorney’s failure must be complete.” Bell, 535 U.S. at 696–97. That standard was unmet in Bell because the argument was “not that [the defendant’s] counsel failed to oppose the prosecution throughout the sentencing proceeding as a whole, but that his counsel failed to do so at specific points.” Id. Haynes is even less salient here because it merely holds counsel made a strategic decision not to contest strong evidence of rape in favor of challenging weaker evidence concerning whether the victim accidentally fell or was thrown to her death. See Haynes, 298 F.3d at 381–82. That is a valid strategy, therefore the appeals court rejected the Cronic claim.

Thus, Respondent does not dispute these precedents; he contests the State’s application of them to a conclusion here that “[a] misunderstanding of the law and the facts may cause a defense to fail. But it will not cause a failure to defend.” Pet. Br. 36. This conclusion does not necessarily

³ The State also challenges the PCR court’s reliance on Tucker v. Ozmint, 350 F.3d 433 (4th Cir. 2003) because Tucker “assessed whether a pretrial investigation was sufficient under a traditional Strickland analysis. See Pet. Br. 33. As explained above, the PCR court considered investigatory and preparatory failures under Strickland and Cronic.

follow. To the contrary, the Fifth Circuit's discussion in Haynes explained the distinction between ineffective assistance under Strickland and constructive denial under Cronic as follows:

Thus, when analyzing an attorney's decision regarding concession of guilt at trial, courts have found a constructive denial of counsel only in those instances where a defendant's attorney concedes the only factual issues in dispute. See United States v. Swanson, 943 F.2d 1070, 1074 (9th Cir. 1991) (holding that "[a] lawyer who informs the jury that it is his view of the evidence that there is no reasonable doubt regarding the only factual issues that are in dispute has utterly failed to subject the prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing"). In contrast, those courts that have confronted situations in which defense counsel concedes the defendant's guilt for only lesser-included offenses have consistently found these partial concessions to be tactical decisions, and not a denial of the right to counsel.

Haynes, 298 F.3d at 381 (footnote omitted, bracket original). By placing all legal emphasis on a fact of no consequence (i.e., vaginal penetration), without promulgating evidence to support the medical-touching defense, trial counsel conceded the only issue in dispute for no legitimate reason. That is precisely the distinction drawn in Haynes such that it is unclear why the State attempts to draw support from it here.

The State seeks to analogize this case to Theodore, where an appeals court rejected numerous errors by an unprepared lawyer as sufficient to implicate Cronic. See Pet. Br. 31–32. In Theodore, the First Circuit reviewed the factual record, concluded "[s]uch minimal performance [by counsel] is sufficient to remove this case from Cronic's ambit[.]" and remanded the case to the district court to rule on whether the representation was prejudicial under Strickland. See Theodore, 468 F.3d at 57. Notably absent from this fact-specific decision is any suggestion trial counsel in Theodore misapprehended the nature of the charges, abandoned available defenses, or failed to present a cognizable defense. To the contrary, counsel made a "non-frivolous motion" for dismissal, actively participated at trial, and presented three defenses (albeit unsuccessful ones). See id. Thus, while the representation had problems necessitating review under Strickland, it was not a total failure to meaningfully contest the government's case.

Likewise, the State points to Fusi as an example where a lawyer's belated entry into a case and failure to interview property owners where the rape occurred as insufficient under Cronic. See Pet. Br. 32–33. This reliance is misplaced. In Fusi, the court concluded the record supported the view that trial counsel “performed something more than a minim of work during the pre-trial phase[,]” thus placing questions concerning the representation beyond Cronic, but within Strickland. See Fusi, 621 F.3d at 9. However, whatever the First Circuit said about the applicant's Cronic theory, its decision denying relief turned first on the applicant's failure to exhaust that claim before seeking a federal forum: “For the foregoing reasons, Fusi failed to exhaust fully his Cronic claim before the state court. ... Fusi's failure to rely upon Cronic in state court is fatal to his habeas petition.” Fusi, 621 F.3d at 7. Thus, the court's Cronic discussion is, at most, very fact specific dicta of little persuasive value here.

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